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Freedom of Religion 
Congress shall make no law respecting an establish· 

ment of religion, or prohibiting the free exercise 
thereof. ... 

N o PROVISION of our Constitution is more venerated 
than this, the First clause of the First Amendment. Like 
the name of Aboll ben Adhem, it leads all the rest of the 

freedoms in the Bill of Righ ts. 
In the reign of England's second Charles, Parliament sought 

to compel all persons to attend the established church in Eng­
land, and by the Test Act to require oaths in support of the 
established religion. This Act and similar acts in England and 
in the countries of continental Europe greatly increased im­
migration to America. 

Article VI of the Federal Constitution furnishes an additional 
proteClion by its provision that, ". no religious Test shall 
ever be required as a QualifICation to any Office of Public Trust 
under the United States." 

While the First Amendment prevents Congress from en· 
croaching upon the liberties guaranteed thereby, the Fourteenth 
Amendment has, in recent years, been construed by the Supreme 
Court to prevent the legislatures of the states from enacting 
laws restricting such freedoms. Formerly these freedoms were 
not deemed protected from state action by the Fourteenth 
Amendment. . 

The states of our country have also, in their respective can· 
stitutions, placed restraints upon their legislatures to protect 
their people in the exercise of freedom of religion. The re­
straining provision in . the Constitution of Ohio is quite broad 
in its scope and can be found in Section 7 of Article I of that 
Constitution. 

But like other righ ts guaranteed to the people, freedom of re· 
ligion is subject to limitations. The amendment embraces two 
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concepts, freedom to believe which is absolute, and freedom to 
act which is not absolute. 

In the language of a recent decision of the United States 
Supreme Court. 

Government has a right to survive, and powers con­
(erred upon it are not necessari ly set at naught by the 
express prohibitions o( the Bill of Rights. It may make 
war and raise armies. To that end it may compel citi· 
zens to give military service •... and subject them to 
mi litary traini ng desp ite their rel igious objections .. . 
It may suppress rcligious practiccs dangerous to morals 
and presumably those also which are inimicable to pub· 
lic safety, health and good order .... 

The Supreme Court, in May of this year, restored the rampart 
erected by the First Ame ndment in derense of religious liberty. 
In a case involving one of the late journeys oE Jehovah's Wit­
nesses to the Supreme Court, that tribunal reversed its former 
decision rendered a year ago, and held unconstimtional ordi· 
nances of towns which require license fees from persons before 
they may distribute religious literature fo r contributions. 

In June of thi s year the Supreme Court, in a case involving 
the latest journey of Jehovah's 'Witnesses to that tribunal, held 
unconstitutional a ' Vest Virgi nia law requiring a salu te to the 
American Flag on the ground that the American Flag is an 
"image," and that the requirement to salute sllch "image" is a 
violation of the religious beliefs of that Religious Sect which 
claims to observe literally verses 4 and 5 of Chapter 20 of Exodus 
which says 

"Thou shalt not make unto thee any graven image, or any 
likeness of anything that is in heaven above, or thal is in the 
earth beneath, or that is in the water under the earth ; thou shalt 
not bow down thyself to them nor serve them." 

PRESIDENT 
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Fort Miami 
F. CLEVER BALD 

PREFAT ORY STATEMENT 8Y THE COMMITtEE ON FORT M IAMI 

On October 16, 1942, a committee of the H istorical Society of 
Northwestern Ohio was appointed at the request of the Toledo 
Metropolitan Park Board to undertake research for the preparation 
of a history of Old Fort Miami. A rapid survey of the histories of 
the Maumee Valley lias been made and inquiries have been ad­
dressed to the marlY archiues and libraries where original unpub· 
lished material may be located. The Committee is indebted to Mr. 
Russell J. Schunk and Mrs. Max Shepherst of the Toledo Public 
Library which has acted as clearirlg hotLSe and agent for most of 
this inquiry. In March the Committee enlisted the services of Mr. F. 
Clever Bald of the Detroit Institute of Technology, since he was 
writing a dissertation. on the Anthony Wayne Campaign. Mr. Bald 
has gath ered together the main documents, published and unpub­
lished, on Fort Miami and at the request of the Committee has pre­
sented an outline of the history of the Fort . H e is now compiling a 
bibliography for an exhaustive study. 

The Committee felt that Mr. Bald's documen tary outline was well 
worth publish ing as a preliminary report, and it is here presented 
to the Society as such. Some notes and emendations on the report 
and the accompanying map are by the Committee. 

CURTIS W. GARRISON 

CARL B . SPITZER 

GEORGE "V. \VELLES 

Committee on Fort Miami 

GENERAL Anthony Wayne spen t the winter of 1793-94 
at Fort Greenville in the Northwest Territory. Lieu­
tenant Colonel Richard England, British commandant 

at Detroit, expecting him to advance against that post in the 
spring, warned Lord Dorchester, governor-general of Canada, 
that Detroit would be in great danger. 

Dorchester accepted England's view of 'Wayne's intentions. 
Consequently, he ordered Lieutenant-Governor John Graves 
Simcoe to build a fort on the Maumee River, then called the 
Miamis_ The Governor-Gene ra l left the exact location of the 
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F. Clev~ Bald 

POSt to Simcoe's discretion; but he stressed the fact that it must 
effectively protect Detroit.' 

Simcoe obeyed with alacrity. On April 10, 1794, he was on 
the Maumee with a detachment of British troops who were set 
to work at once under the direction of Lieutenant Robert Pilk­
ington, Royal Engineers.' Early in Jul y, Pilkington sent Simcoe 
a report on the progress of the fortification: 

" ... the present Slate of the 'Works I will endeavour to give 
your Excellency some idea of, and with the assistance of the in­
closed Plans/ to express my future intentions, the general form 
of the 'Work and the manner in which the Plan of the outline 
which I have traced on a SUn'ey of the position. The Plan of 
the Fort exhibits the disposition of the several Buildings; the 
Barracks forming a part of the Rampart, and are the li ning of 
it, they are roofed with Logs 12 inches thick, and those on the 
longer faces of the work, have Loopholes for firing in the re­
verse. The Bastions have casemated Flanks, and the whole in· 
terior part below of each Bastion may be considered as a case­
mate serving for a secure lodgment of Stores. T he Bastions will 
be somewhat superior to the other parts of the work, and each 
of their Platforms will be capable of receiving Four Guns, wh ich 
may be directed variously, each Bastion having six Embrasures. 
The fiat Bastion on the water front] have not raised with Earth 
higher than the Platform to it, as ] purpose the remaining part 
to be of Log work, as represented in the section, pierced with 
Loopholes and Port holes, and to have a Machicouli Fire, pro­
posing by this to have a perfect defense for the water front, 
with a formidable Battery commanding the River and opposite 
shore, this work being but little advanced, is not exposed to view 
from either Flank. I have availed myself of a hollow in the 
ground, before the left face of the Raveli n by making a covered 
passage under the Glacis for a communication with any work 
on the adjacent rising ground, and it gives easy and secure access 
in receiving of Stores into the Fort from the side of the River. 
The present state of the work is such that in four days from 
hence the body of the place will consist of an elevated Parapet 
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of Earth, the casemates of the Bastions and Flanks perfectly 
formed, the whole completely fraised and surrounded by the 
ditch requisite on the Land side. The Barracks on the water 
!Tont are in great forwardness and the casemated Flanks re."dy 
for receiving Cannon."· 

{EO'TO ... ·! NOTE: It is rather d ifficult. without the Pilkington Plan to explain 
the technical terms in his description. The rampart!, of coun;e. arc the main 
walls or earthworks thrown up u5ing the earth removed while digging the ditch 
surrounding the fort. The outer earthworks beyond the ditch were the glacis. 
The barracks eVidently formed part of the ramparl5 and on the longest faces, 
or sides of the fort. loopholes were placed $0 that guns could be elevated to an 
angle of more than 50% with the slope of the parapet (Firing in re\·en;e). A 
!)astion is similar to a blockhouse but built d ifferently. It is a bnlge in the works, 
u in the diagr.tm, which il designed to bring a crOlli fire on any party atladdng 

A 

n('[c 
--------~D E~------

betw«n !)astiollll and $0 protect the rampart or "curtain." The fa ces of the 
bastion are represented by lines AS and AC. The flanks are the lines BD and 
CI-:. A casemated ch31l1ber is a bOlobproofed chamber, 50 with the Hanks of the 
bastions and the entire area below tile bastions, as J' ilkington describes them 
(see a l$O Captain Short '! description, POSt, p. 134). The guns were fired from the 
bastions through emhf1ilSuTCS or slit openings. For one bastion on the ril'er side, 
Pilkington bad the floor beams projecting QUt beyond the supporting t'arthworkl, 
with opcninrp between the beams through which the troops could pour shot, 
and projectiles of all SOrt directly 011 the head of the advancing enemy (Machi· 
couli fire, often used in castle defense, Middle Ages). 011 one side, where there was 
a dip or hollow in the ground he had a tunnel under the outer earthworks start­
ing from the ral"elin which is simply a b.ution without the flan!:'s. The fraise was 
a row of stout pointed stak~ extending Ollt allllost horiwntally frolll the patapct.] 

Late in J uly. General ·Wayne resumed his fon,'ard march into 
the lndian country. He reached t..he Maumee at the mouth of 
the Au Glaize on August 8. Remai ning there for a week to 

bu ild Fan Defiance, he moved down the Maumee toward Fort 
Miamis. 

Near the present town of Waterville, Ohio, he met a force 
of Indians, supponed by British militiamen !Tom Detroit, who 
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were determined to check his advance. There, on August 20, 
1794, he defeated them in the decisive Battle of Fallen Timbers. 
The beaten savages Red to nearby Fort Miamis, expecting to be 
received within its ramparts; but Major William Campbell, 
the commandant, refused to open the gates. He had strict orders 
to commit no act of war unless the Americans took the initiative 
against him. 

General Wayne, likewise, had been forbidden to a ttack the 
British without provocation. Nevertheless, he would have been 
glad to have an excuse to capture thi s fort, built upon territory 
which Great Britain had ceded to the United States in 1783. 
Consequently, he pitched his camp just out of range of the guns 
of Fort Miamis, and he and his officers rode in close and care­
fully surveyed the works. 

Major Campbell was indignant. To Colonel England at De­
troit, he wrote: " ... surel y my situation is a very extraordinary 
one, hundreds of American Cava lry are constantly skirting the 
wood all around us and at this moment, a number of their offi­
cers are looking at us £rom the Point of Colonel McKee's 
Island."5 

Feeling that his honor and that of his country were at stake, 
Major Campbell dispatched the following note to General 
Wayne under a flag of truce: 

"An Army of the United States of America, said to be under 
your command, having taken Post on the banks of the Miamis, 
for upwards of the last twenty-four hours, almost within the 
reach of the Guns of this Fort, being a Post belonging to H is 
Majesty, the King of Great Britain, occupied by His Majesty's 
Troops, and which I have the honor to command, it becomes my 
duty to inform myself as speedily as possible, in what light I am 
to view your making such near approaches to this Garrison . 

" I have no hesitation on my part to say, that 1 know of no ·War 
existing between Great Britain and America.'" 

Wayne answered this communication the same day. 
"I have received yOUT Letter of this date requiring of me the 

motives which have moved the Anny, under my command to the 
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position, they now occupy, far within the acknowledged Jurisdic­
tion of the United States of America. 

"Without questioning the authority or the propriety Sir, of 
your interrogatory, I think I may without breach of decorum 
observe to you, that were you intitled to an answer, the most 
full & satisfactory one was announced to you, from the muzzles 
of my small arms yesterday morning, in the action against the 
heard [herd] of Savages in the vicinity of your Post; which ter­
minated gloriously to the American Arms-but had it continued 
until the Indians &c were drove under the influence of the Post 
and Guns you mention-they would not have much impeded 
the progress of the Victorious army under my command, as no 
such Post was established at the commencement of the present 
war, between the Indians & the United States. "T 

Wayne's minatory reply almost goaded Campbell to action. 
The next day he warned the General that although he had "for­
borne for these two days past to resent these Insults you have 
offered to the British Flag flying at this Fort, by approaching it 
within pistol shot of my works, not only singly, but in numbers 
with arms in their hands," s in future, he would fire on Ameri­
cans if they approached his post. 

General Wayne at once replied that the British were occupy­
ing American soil and demanded the evacuation of the fort. p 

Major Campbell answered that he would obey his orders to re­
main where he was; and he again warned "Waynl1 not to ap· 
proach Fort Miamis.lo 

Since Major Campbell would not fight without provocation, 
\Vayne withdrew and retired to Greenville. He had accom· 
plished his purpose-the destruction of the Indian forces. Now 
he began the tedious task of inducing the savages to come in to 
make a treaty. Slowly but surely. he gained the confidence of 
the chiefs. who had lost faith in their British "Father" when the 
gates of Fort Miamis had been closed against them. 

In August, 1795, was signed the Treaty of Greenville, by 
which fifteen years of savage warfare in the Northwest Territory 
was terminated and the southern half of Ohio was ceded to the 
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United States. Wayne had successfully completed his mission. 
Leaving General James Wilkinson in command of the troops, 
he returned to Philadelphia. 

In the spring of 1796, President Washington ordered Wayne 
to visit the western posts which were about to be delivered by 
the British to the Americans in accordance with the terms of 
Jay's Treaty. The Commander in Chief traveled overland to 
Pittsburgh, then sailed down the Ohio River to Cincinnati. 

Meanwhile, arrangements had been made for the American 
occupation. At Detroit, Colonel England wrOte to General 
Wilkinson on July 1: "Captain De Buus l1 who arrived here last 
night, will no doubt communicate with you. and I shall have 
much pleasure in affording him every assistance in my power, in 
hiring or procuring Vessels to bring your T roops here, from the 
Miamis River."l1 

Lieutenant Colonel John Francis H amtramck,lI commanding 
the First Sub.legion, moved down the Mau mee and occupied 
Fort Miamis on July II . 1796. He wrote the following letter 
there on the same day: 

"Copy" 
Fort Miamis, Jul y lith, 1796 

"Sir, 
"On the 7th Instant two small vessels (sic) arrived from De· 

trait. in which I sent a Detachment of Artillery and Infantry, 
consisting of Sixty·five men, together with a number of Cannon, 
ammunition &c &c. the whole under the command of Captn. 
Porter.H 

"On the 9th Instant a sloop arrived ITom Detroit to Swan 
Creek, purchased by Captain DeEuus, which carries fifty tons, 
and which is now loaded with flour, Quarter masters Stores and 
Troops; that, together with Eleven Eaneaux, I have, will be 
sufficient to take all the Troops I have with me, leaving the r e­
mainder of our Stores deposited at this place, which was evacu· 
ated this day-and where I leave Captn. Marschalk16 and Lieut. 
Shanklin,'G wi th fifty·two men of Infantry, and a Corporal and 
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Six of Artillery. that is. the Garrison at the H ead of the rapids 
Included.-I have endowed Fort Miamis with one months 
provision, (or both the Troops and the Shawanoes. the latter you 
will recolleCt you promised subsistance, unti l their crop was ripe 
- the calculation is at the rate of O ne pound of flour and Beef 
p[er] day [or the Troops and a pound of Beef and half a pound 
of Aour to the Indians-the number of the Shawanoes is about 
180 besides twenty or thirty [Ot]tawas . 

• • • 
"The Miamis fort was evacuated this morning and taken pos­

session of by Captain Marscha lk- I shall embark in two hours 
with all the Troops for Detroit. 

"Since writing the above. I am informed that thirty Waggons 
are on their way to Defiance- l have directed that if they are 
public property, to come to Fort Miamis. for the Navigation of 
the rapids is now impracticable-if it is the Contractors waggollS, 
they will of consequence return from Defiance, in that case your 
orders for the transportation of that Flour to this place, wi ll be 
necessary-I shall immediately send back all the Boats [Tom De· 
trait to this place. 

"Enclosed are the returns of the Troops under my command. 
I have the honor to be sir, 

with real esteem 
Your Obt. Servt. 

"Brigr. Cenl. Wilkinson 
[Endorsed] 
11 th J uly 1796 

from 
Col. Hamtramck 

to 
Cen. Wilkinson 

Signed J. F. H amtramck" 

"A true copy 
J. A. Wilkinson 

B. Gent." 

Advancing northward from Cincinnati along the line of forts 
he had built during 1793 and 1794. "'''ayne reached Fort Miamis 
on August 7. 1796. He remained only long enough to repair 
some boats in which he and his escort embarked for Detroit on 
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August 10.11 After they had sai led, Captain Marschalk sent him 
the following letter and report on Fort Miamis: 

Fort Miamis, 14 Augt. 1796 

"Sir 
"I have the Honor to lay before your Excellency, a statement 

of the Public works and buildings of Fort Miamis, as received 
by me from Capt. Short, of his Brittanic Majesty's 24th Regi. 
ment on the 11th ultimo.a 

"His statements, of which duplicates were exchanged, are as 
follows viz.-

" 'A sta tement of the condition and nature of the Works and 
Public Buildings of Fort Miamis, delivered up to Captn. Mar­
schalk of the 2d. Sub-Legion of the Troops of the United States 
of America when evacuated by a Detachment of his Majesty's 
24th R egt. July 11 tb, 1796. 

" 'Four Bastions, two with cazemates (sic) 
"'A ,"Vater Battery 
" 'Three Bomb Proofs for Soldiers quarters, with Births (sic) , 

in good order, having been lately shingled . 
. , 'One Bomb'proof, for Provision Store, and Ordnance Maga. 

zinc, in good order. 
" 'One Bake House, and oven, in good order. 
" 'One Engineers Store, in good order. 
"'Six Logg Houses, for Officers quarters, want repair. 
" 'One Logg Guard House. 
"'One House for Artillery, with births (sic) 
" 'One Guard House in the Ditch, in good order. 
"'Four Logg Houses, on the outside of the works, om of 

R epair. 
"'One Blacksmiths Shop. 
" 'One Carpenters Shop. 
" 'N .B. The works in general, very much out of repair, hav· 

ing never been properly finished.' 
Signed- C. W. Short, Captn. 24 Rgt. 
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"I have to observe to Your Excellency that the above state· 
ment, with the remarks made by Captain Short, is generally 
correct. The works are, a t present, in a tolerable Stale of De· 
fence, but will admit of many improvements. 

"It would appear, however, from circumstances-that there 
has not been, for a considerable time, that attention paid to the 
Police and cleanliness of the post, so essentially necessary for 
the preservation of Hea lth . This might possibly be owing to the 
anticipated hour of evacuation. I have, in a great measure, how· 
ever, removed those obstacles. 

"I have, also, Sir, made particular Enquiries, with respect to 
the disorders &c. said to have prevai led among the British troops 
in 1794. 

" From well informed persons now on the sPOt, I find, that 
Colonel Simcoe, with a Detachment, arrived here about the 
latter part of April, that the Troops were immediately put upon 
hard fatigue-that they were destitute of tents, or any kind of 
covering, and fed constantly on salt provision. Added to this, 
the river water, only, was made use of- no spring having at that 
time been discovered. Their disorders were generally flux,le 
which were attributed to the circumstances mentioned, and not 
to a want of salubrity of Climate. 

"I cannot find that more than one officer (and who, if I am not 
wrongly informed made rather free with his constitution), and 
four or five soldiers have died at this place. Some indeed, in 
getting sick, were sent to Detroit, and I believe a few died on 
their passage-but their deaths might probably be owing, more 
to their confined and disagreeable situations in the gun boats 
than to any other cause. 

"One of my informants added that he has lived in the vicinity 
of this post nearly fourteen years, and has never experienced 
hi mself or known of any remarkably sickly periods. 

"The latter end of July, and the month of August, have been 
thought by some to be the most unhealthy seasons. I beg leave 
to observe to your Excellency that since my being in command 
of the post I have seen no symptoms that have led me into a be­
lief of a particular want of Salubrity of climate. 
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"} have, at this time, a number of sick in the Detachment. but 
when it is remarked that the men who at present compose the 
Garrison have been on the very arduous duty of Boatmen (a 
service of all others most severe) si nce early in February last, 
and that they were particularly selected for this post on account 
of their being deficient of clothing (very few of them having 
received their proportion allowed for the summer months) and 
that for a considerable part of the time while on that service 
they have not received their rations of wh iskey, the necessity of 
wh ich, as a refreshment, while so employed, must be particularly 
obvious, they could not, in my opinion from the fat igues they 
had undergone, be considered in any other state than that of 
convalescents only, when I took possession of the Garrison with 
them. Their disorders are ge nera ll y agues and fever.tO which 
appear to me to have originated from Bill ious habi ts, and which 
I also am of opin ion their fat igue under those circumstances has 
been a principal cause of, and which , unfortunately, I have not 
been in possession of medicine to remove-all committed to my 
care in taking charge of the Post, having been a few doses of 
Tartar Emetic and SallS-a small quantity of Bark~' and Castor 
oil, and a little salve. and which, while they lasted, have been 
made use of to good affect-I am now entire ly desLiLUte , but at 
the same ti me have the pleasure to inform your Excellency that 
there is not at this place any man whom I conceive dangerously 
ill. I have myself been a subject oE the ague, which a very few 
dozes of Bark easil y removed, although the attack was a severe 
one. A small supply of medicine and Hospital Stores would, in 
my opinion , very soon remove what sickness is now a t th is place. 

"Another source of the sickness now here has, 1 believe, pro­
ceeded from some days o{ hard fatigue, which I found necessary 
on laking possession of the post to remove some obstacles of a 
very disagreea ble nature. The want of soap has also been much 
fe lt as it deprives the men of the opportunity of keeping them· 
selves as clean & wholesome in their appearance as is necessary 
to preserve health. 

"The information I have obtained with respect to the climate 
&c proceeds from T raders, I believe. of respectability and who 
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are willing to come forward on oa th to establish the facts they 
have represented to me. 

I have the Honor to be 
Sir 

With great respect 
Your Excellency's 
Most obt. & Very he Serv. 
And'" Ma rschalk 
Capt. in 2d S.L. 

" Hiss Excellency 
Major Genl. Wayne 

Fon Miamis was now an American post. 

NOTES 

(Sub-Legion)" 

J. Dorchester to Simcoe. February 17, 179·1, Michigan PiOJ!u:r a",1 H istorical 
Collections (Lansing, 1877· ). XXIV, 642-43. Hereinafter cited a5 MPHC. 

2. Simcoe 10 Dorcheste r, April 29, 1794, ibid., 658. The fort was built on the 
, ile of Ihe present 10Wli of Maumee, Ohio. 

5. Tb is plan of Ihe fort has not been fou nd . 
... J' ilkington to Simcoe, J uly 7, 179'1, E. A. Cruihhank (ed.), Th e COTTt spondence 

01 Lielllenant Covernor John Craves Simcoe ( l'oronto, 1923·), II , 509. Hcre­
inafter ciled a5 Simcoe Papers. 

5. Campbell 10 England. August 21, 179-1 . MPH C., XXV, 15. 
6. Campbell to Wayne, August 2 1, 1791, ibid., Hi. 
7. Wayne to Campbell, August 21 , 179-1, ibid., 16· 17. 
8. Campbell to Wayne, August 22, 1794, ibid., 17. 
9. Wayne to Campbell, Auguu 22, 1 79~, ibid. , J8. 

10. Campbell to Wa)"ne, August 22, 1 79~. ibid., 19. 
I I. Cenerdl Wayne'$ chid aide·de·camp. 
12. England to Wilkinson, July I, 1794, Anthon)" \Va)'ne I'apen, 44: 88, His· 

torical Society of l'e!lnsylva nia. Herei nafter cited as HSP . 
13. Colonel Hamtra mck w:u a Canadian who joi ned Ihe American arllly and 

fo ughl throughout Ihe Revolutionary War . He became the first American 
(Omma ndanl of Detroit. Milo M. Qu~ife (cd.), The JOhll A,/tin Pa~f"S (De· 
troit, 1931). 11 ,49. 

14. C;lpt. Moses Porter occupied Fort Lemou lt at Detroit on j uly I, 1796. He 
was a \'ete ran of the Revolutionary War. 

I~. C.lpt. Andrew Marschalk. of New j eTiIC)". e llle red the arm)" in 1791 and was 
honorably di~h3rgcd on June I. 1802. Francis II. Heitman, H istorical R egister 
and DictiolWry 01 tilt United States Army (Washington, 190"). vol. I. 

16. Lieu!. Andrew Shanklin entered tbe arm)" in 1792 and resigned il1 1798. Ibid. 
17. Wayne to Sc(. of War j ames McHenry, August 10, l i96. Wayne ('apcr" 45: 

73, HSI' . 
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18. This is the statement of the condi tion of the public works whith each Britil 
commandant was required to delive r to the Ameri(;;l.n offiett who occupill 
the post. It is in the Wayne Papen, HSP. 

19. Dysentery. 
20. "Ague!! and Fe ... er"-malatla-were prevalent throughout this region. <AI 

stantin F. Volney, the French philo.sopher and traveler, who visi ted the 01 
Northwc. t at this time, wrote; "In the autumn of 1796, during a joutney4 
more than three hundred leagues. I have not found , I dare say, twenty hoUil 
which were entirely free of it [malaria) .... " Tabl~au du Climat ~t du $I 
D~$ Etal.J Unis IYAmerique (Paris, 1803),309. 

21. "P~ruvian b;i. rk," a crude form of quinine. 
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Elisha Whittlesey and Maumee Land Speculation, 
1834· 1840 

HAROLD E. DAVIS 

ANUMBER of factors contributt:d to intensify the spirit 
of land speculation in the Maumee valley about the year 
1834. One factor was the Jacksonian policy of removing 

the Indians from the reservations of northwestern Ohio, which 
brought their highly desirable lands into the market.1 Another 
factor was the imminent prospect of fixing the routes of the 
Wabash-Erie Canal and the northern end of the Miami-Erie 
CanaJ.2 The boundary conflict between Ohio and Michigan 
Territory introduced an additional element of uncertainty and 
also fixed national attention upon the area in a very spectacular 
manner.- Joined 'to these factors, which applied particularly to 
the Maumee area, WCfe two of more general character: the 
mounting spirit of speculation in western lands in general. and 
the fiscal and land policies of the Jackson administration. The 
total effect was to make of the Maumee region one of the most 
notable centers of the great speculative era which preceded the 
Panic of 1837. 

There was an early flurry of speculation in lands within the 
present Toledo when the Port Lawrence Company. including 
such prominent Cincinnatians as jacob Burnet. William Oliver 
and Martin Baum, purchased the land of the Greenvi ll e Treaty 
reservation at the mouth of the Maumee. The land was pur­
chased at auction in Wooster. in February, 1817. and the village 
of Port Lawrence (now Toledo) was laid out the same year.4 

This boom proved premature, however. and many of the hold­
ings were permitted to lapse during the hard times which fol­
lowed. 

The real specu lation in Maumee lands began in 1834, when 
james Samuel Wadsworth of New York purchased thousands of 
acres along the Maumee and Auglaize rivers. The Hicks Land 
Company and the American Land Company purchased land 
aggregating 100,000 acres in western Defiance and Williams 
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counties. The name of the Hicks Company and of Henry W. 
Hicks in the development of northwestern Ohio. which began 
at this time, is, of course, today commemorated in the town 01 
H icksville, which the latter laid out in 1836.5 About this time, 
too, \Viiliam Oli ver and his fe llow Cincinnatians showed a re­
vived interest in the Maumee. First they exchanged some of 
their Port Lawrence holdings for land held by the University 01 
Michigan, then, shortly thereafter, re-purchased that land. In 
1835 the property of The POrt Lawrence Company was divided 
among its members,' open ing the way for much more private 
speculation. 

One of the participants in the developments of this period, 
deserving of a higher place than the meager attention given him 
by Maumee valley historians, is Elisha Whittlesey, National Re­
publican and 'Whig Congressman from northeastern Ohio. With 
some of his Whig friends from that region, and with the aid 01 
eastern and Cincinnati capitalists and speculators, he played a 
prominent role, indeed, in the development of the Maumet 
Valley and Toledo parti cularly, after 1831. His papers, pre· 
served in The W estern Reserve Historical Society, have been 
the princi pal source for this article. 

Elisha Whittlesey was born in Washington , Litchfield County, 
Connecticut. In Danbury he received a good education, includ· 
ing the study of law. Shortly after completing his legal studies 
he moved to the Western Reserve, where he settled in Canfield, 
then Trumbull, now Mahoning, County. He became prosecuting 
attorney for the county in 1806 and served in that capacity, ap­
parently, until 1823. In the War of 1812 he rose to the rank 
of brigade major under his friend, and in many respects mentor, 
General Simon Perkins. During the war, also, he served 'William 
Henry Harrison as private secretary, th us beginning another 
We-long friendship. The events of the war naturally directed 
Whittlesey's attention toward the region of southern Michigan 
and northwestern Ohio. 

Two years in the Ohio legislature (1820-1822) were followed 
by election to Congress in 1822, where he was still serving dur­
ing most of the period covered by this paper, that is, until his 
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resignation in 1838. He was, in fact, one of the most highly reo 
spected members of the Ohio delegation, and rapidly became a 
leader in Congress. Niles' Register wrote of him: "Without dis­
paragement to any other of the few working members of Con­
gress, we may be allowed to place Mr. Whittlesey, of Ohio, a t 
the head of this class." In Harrison 's administration he was Au­
ditor of the Post Office Department, and in 1849 became the 
first Comptroller General of the Uni ted States, an office which 
he held , except for the Buchanan administration, from that dale 
until his death in 1863. For himself and the office he earned the 
epithet "Watch·dog o[ the Trcasury." 1 

, .vhittlesey acted as attorney for Simon Perkins, probably the 
greatest land agent in the state of Ohio. Among other things' 
Perkins laid out and developed the town of Akron. From inter­
est in land to imerest in internal improvements was but a step, 
and Whittlesey accordingly tOok an active interest in the de­
velopment of the Ohio canals. He was a close friend and collabo­
rator of Alfred Kelley, financier of the Ohio cana ls and later 
author of the Bank of Ohio, as well as of Micajah T. Williams, 
author of the first motion in the Ohio legislature to undertake 
consideration of canal building and author of the bill establish­
ing a canal commission. Williams' name wiB appear frequently 
hereafter.8 Whittlesey took an active part in promoting the 
Pennsylvania-Ohio Canal,· and was also actively interested in 
several canal projects which never were completed, such as ule 
proposed canal from the Mahoning R iver at N iles to Lake Erie 
at Ashtabu la, and the Black River-Killbuck canal.'l1 His in­
fluence in Congress was used LO promote federal aid for canal 
construction and for improvements to navigation and the con­
struction of harbors on L.lke Eric. A(ter 1837 his growing in­
terest in railroads is abundantly evidenced by the mass of 
letters deal ing wi th the subject preserved among his papers. 

In 1833 he joi ned with his brother Mathew, of Danbury, 
Connecticut, and a certain Colonel Moss "\Vhite, in the pur­
chase of some land near Norwalk." Then in 1834 he became 
interested in Maumee lands, first, apparently, through his con­
cern for the lands in this area granted to the "\Vestern Reserve 
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townships for school purposes by the Act of 1834. The Westen 
Reserve townships had no school lands from the State of Com 
necticut or the Connecticut Land Company. Therefore, tr­
Ohio Constitutional Convention in 1802, and Congress in thl 
Enabling Act of 1803 had given them fourteen quarter toW& 

ships in the United States Military Tract. This was less thai 
most townships had received, however, and the Act of 1834, U: 

the passage of which Whittlesey played an important pan 
granted additional lands, some 30,000 acres to be selected frOIl 

the public lands in the Maumee Valley, to make the total R­

ceived by the Reserve townships equal 1/36 of the area of thl 
Reserve. 12 

Whittlesey worked closely with Alfred Kelley and GovernCl 
Lucas to secure the appointment of the right agent by Presi­
dent Jackson to select the lands, with the result that Danid 
Kerr, a prominent citizen and "Associate" judge of Geauga 
County was appointed after Judge Ebenezer Lane of NonvaU 
had declined the office.1I He advised Kerr to seek out "Mr. Rice" 
at Maumee, who was supposed to know more about lands ia 
that vicinity than any other man.H He also wrote to Joseph 
Larwell , Uni ted States land agent at Bucyrus, asking Larwem 
aid for Kerr. His letter to Lanvell is particularly interesting 
because of the pains to which he went to make it clear that 
these school lands would be sold immediately, so that no com 
munity need fear that its development would be retarded.'$ 

When United States Land Commissioner Hayward deter· 
mined that the area of the Western Reserve was three million 
acres and gave directions for selecting the school lands to the 
extent of 1/36 that amount, Whittlesey took up the case wilh 
the Secretary of the Treasury and got recogni tion of the real 
area of the Reserve, 3,666,921 acres. He urged Kerr to selea 
lands along the proposed canal route from among those reo 
served by the United States, but this led to some difficulty. 
When local land agents refused to permit entries for these canal 
lands Whittlesey carried the case to the Commissioner General, 
to the Attorney General, and to the Secretary of the Treasury, 
Levi 'Voodbury. The Attorney General eventually gave his 
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opinion in favor of the Reserve, but Jackson decided that "he 
co uld not with propriety make the selections from the canal 
lands."16 

It was about this time that Whittl esey joined with Judge Eben­
ezer Lane of Norwalk in purchasing some Maumee lands 
through the Bucyrus land office. Even before the lands wcre 
opened for entry Whittlesey had an arrangement with Lanvell . 
the land agent. whereby the latter would notify Judge Lane as 
soon as the lands were opened for entry. Judge Lane would then 
send immediately a certificate of deposit to cover the costs of 
entry. Lanveil informed Whittlesey from time to time of par­
ticularly desirable lands which were being offered for sale.iT 

Whittlesey's interest in Maumee lands mounted rapidly. In 
early March, 1835, he talked with Joel B. Sutherland" about 
the possibility of the latter's investing $10,000 in western lands. 
To Judge Lane he suggested looking out for good lands in the 
sections along the canal routes reserved by the national gov­
ernment. These were, of course, the same lands he was urging 
Kerr to select for the Western Reserve townships.l' He deter­
mined , moreover, to make a trip through the Maumee region 
that year himself. partly to assist Kerr in selecting the Western 
Reserve lands, and partly to sec for himself what the opportuni­
ties were. 

Naturally he turned to his longtime friend of Ohio legis­
lature days, Micajah T. Williams, recently parted from Jack­
sonism and now joined wi th Whittlesey in Ohio Whiggery. 
Williams had been surveyor general of Ohio, lndiana and 
Michigan territories. tO Long associated with the cause of in­
ternal improvements, he had just recently become President 
of the newly created Ohio Life Insurance and Trust Company, 
the biggest and most active bank in lhe state, and heir in Oh io 
to the interests of the second United States Bank.n He had al­
ready been interested in Maumee lands, as noted, and was in 
any case a powerful ally. Not only did he know personally most 
of the land agentS, incluging Larwell, and have a first hand 
knowledge of the lands, but his bank came near conlrolling the 
credit of western Ohio, having outstanding obligations equal 
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to a tenth or a twelfth of the total assessed valuation of prop' 
erty in the state by l 8!S6.22 ' Villiams responded generously to 

Whittlesey's requests with information. advice and letters d 
introduction to land agents in the West.23 

In April. 1835. Whittlesey and Perki ns went together. '" 
canal and river. apparently for a meeting of the trustees of the 
Ohio Life Insurance and Trust Company. There they must in. 
evitably have talked with Williams, 'Villiam O liver and othen 
about Maumee lands.2

' Back in Canfield. Whittlesey wrote agaiJ 
to Kerr about Western R eserve School lands, proposing that 
they make a trip to look over lands together through the West.­
Whether Kerr accompanied him on a trip to Nonvalk, San. 
dusky and points further west. in June. is not certain. From 
Norwalk he wrote Mrs. Whittlesey on June 5 that he planned 
to leave for Sandusky that afternoon, would spend the Sabbath 
in Sandusky. and "go into the woods on Monday." T his trip 
probably took him no further than into W ood County, a~ 

though he could have gone as far as the Maumee. Possibly h~ 
was looking at lands near Lake Erie and Maumee Bay which 
Larwell had recently suggested. By June 12 he was back in 
Nonvalk and had been attending to some business there.H 

J e,ssup Wakeman was a friend of some means who was fur· 
nishing part of the capital to pay for stock in the Ohio Life 
Insurance and Trust Company which he and ' Vhittlesey wen 
buying jointly. The growing seriousness of Whittl esey's inten, 
tion to speculate in Maumee lands on a large scale is seen in the 
proposal which he made to this friend at this time. He proposed 
a joint specu la tion, Wakeman furni shing the capital, Whittlesey 
arranging for the entries, handling the sa les and all other busi· 
ness details, and both sharing equally in the profits. As prece· 
dents he cited the arrangementS under which Simon Perkins 
and John Fitch had handled investments in ' Vcstern Reserve 
lands for eastern friends wi th capita l. H ow completely western 
lands were coming to absorb his a ttention appears in this letter: 

1t is my intention during this fall LO go to the westward. and make 
selection, and entcr Uni ted States land. My funds arc so employed 
at th is time. as to prc\'cnt me from making as ex tensive entries as I 
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would, if my funds were not already invested. Your knowledge of 
the Western Country will enable you to judge whether money can 
be more safely and profitably invested than in emering land at the 
Government price. Speculation in town and city property have been 
great for the two years past, but I have not confidence enough in 
their stability to embark in them. Such is the flourishing condition 
of our country, that land at one doJlar and a quarter an acre, must 
I think, not only be a safe, but a profitable in vestmem. It is my in­
tention to view the land I may enter myself, and to obtain the serv­
ices also of Daniel Kerr Esq. a practical surveyor, who selected the 
school lands for the Reserve.21 

Back at home, he apparently discussed plans with his law 
partner, Eben Newton, and with J oshua R. Giddings of J effer. 
son, Ashtabula County soon (1838) {Q be Whittlesey's successor 
in Congress. Both men were already interested in the Maumee. 
In October, accompanied by two other men, one of th em 
Daniel Kerr, he set out for another and more extensive tour of 
northwestern Ohio. The name of the second man does not ap­
pear.Z8 A letter to his wife from a point in "Sandusky County, 
midway from Lower Sandusky to Perrysburgh on the Maumee" 
telts of his plan to travel through Wooo County, and possibly 
Hancock and Hardin?~ Four days later, from the Lima land 
office, he wrote that he was dissatisfied with the lands he had 
seen in Sandusky and Wood counties, and so had gone on {Q 

Putnam County; and that he planned to return to Putnam 
County the next day to examine some more 1ands.30 In a later 
letter he mentions having also visted Hancock County on th is 
trip.31 

By the time Whittlesey returned to 'Vashington for the 
opening of Congress in December, 1835, the pot of Maumee 
specu laLi on was fai rly boiling among this Western Reserve 
group of Whigs, and was beginning to draw in some of Whittle· 
sey's eastern friends who had capital to invest. His interest in 
land was also reflected in the official business to which he gave 
his attention that winter. Because of the d ifficulties he had 
encountered on his speculative tour in the Maumee country, 
he took up with the Land Commissioner the possibility of re­
laxing a new rule of that office which had caused him to waste 
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time. and even to lose the chance to enter certain lands. Tilt 
rule. contained in a recent circular from the Commissioner', 
Office had required the enterer of lands to swear that he had 
examined the lands and that there were no preemption right 
settlers on them.n 

Edward Wade (brother of Benjamin F.) was interested in sam! 
lands near the foo t of the Maumee Rapids, "in the northwest 
corner of Perrysburgh," and enlisted Whittlesey's aid in clear· 
ing up a controversy over the title. a controversy originating in 
the Congressional grant of March 2, 1827. to lndiana, of land! 
to aid in construction of the Wabash-Erie Canal. The law had 
given land along the proposed route "to the foot of Maumet 
Rapids." By Act of May 24. 1828. Congress transferred all such 
lands within the borders of Ohio to the Ohio Canal Comi5-
sioners, Ohio assuming responsibility for construction of that 
part of the canal. The question, therefore, was whether thest 
lands now belonged to the Ohio Canal Commissioners, or could 
be entered as public lands. That question, in turn. depended 
upon where the line should be drawn marking the foot of tht 
rapids. Besides Edward Wade, James Quinley and a Mr. Morru. 
son were interested. A letter of this period from the land agent, 
Larwell , may also refer to these lands. Whittlesey took up th~ 
question with the Land Office, apparently with the result that 
the lands were opened for entry.n 

Judging from the reserve which Whittlesey still guarded on 
the question of town lots when writing to Jessup Wakeman the 
preceding June, it was Edward ,.vade's enthusiasm which now 
aroused his interest in lands in the then Port Lawrence Town 
and Upper Toledo, with tales of the great profits he (Wade) 
had made there. With $500, he said, he had already made ~8 ,OOO. 
Wade wished Whittlesey to help him secure capi tal for invest· 
ment. Since Senator J ohn M. Clayton, of Dover. Delaware, 
had already offered Whittlesey capita l for investment in lands, 
the latter now proposed to Wade that he, Newton, Whittlesey 
and Clayton form a partnership. Clayton would advance 
$20,000, upon which he would receive 6% interest. plus one­
fifth of the profits. Wade (and his partner Raymond) would re-
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ceive two-fifths. and Newton and \Vhittlesey the other two-fifths. 
Newton and Whittlesey would join in guaranteeing his capital 
to John Clayton.33 From this point on there is an almost con­
stant correspondence about Maumee lands between Wade. 
Whittlesey and Newton, especially during the months that 
Whittlesey is in Washington attending Congress. 

\Vhittlesey, however, had a conservative bent, and was afraid, 
apparently, of Edward Wade's more reckless tendencies, just as 
he suspected Wade's abolitionism. "What property I have 
obtained," he wrote Wade, "has been by patient labour, and 
the most rigid economy." Moreover, whether for this reason or 
another, he was reluctant at first to divulge Clayton's name, writ­
ing to "Vade that "the gentleman to whom I have spoken is no 
speculator."34 "Such has been the rage for speculation the past 
season," he wrote his partner, "we must inevitably, as I fear, 
meet with a check. A war with France is not impossible. In 
this event it will take a good deal of property to pay a debt of 
twenty thousand dollars." The reference, obviously, is to the 
$20,000 which Clayton was furnishing, and the conservative 
spirit of the whole letter is in marked contrast to 'Wade's 
exuberant enthusiasm. Perhaps he had been influenced by 
Judge Lane's cautious warning of some months before that "a 
season of general speculations" was approaching, since anyone 
with $100 "seems disposed to hold an 80 acre lot in the Con­
gress lands."3~ 

This cautious attitude may well have been what enabled him 
to ride out the Panic of 1837, as will appear later. Although 
it is irrelevant in some respects to the theme of this article, it 
may be noted, tOO, that this same spirit carried over into 
Whittlesey's relations to the Ohio Life Insurance and Trust 
Company, of which he was a trustee. He criticized the bank for 
its liberal credit policy, because, as he said, it encouraged specu­
lation in western lands. With Simon Perkins he joined in a 
protest to the bank in November, 1836.38 To another friend, 
Rogers M. Sherman, he wrote about the same time of "a fever­
ish excitement that [pervades?] all kinds of business."3T 

Even with the backing of Clayton and Wakeman, Whittlesey 
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felt he needed still more capital. "It is my design and intention 
hereafter to attend to selecting public lands," he wrote in 
March, 1836, to the eminent Abbott L. Lawrence, wealthy 
manufacturer of Lawrence, Massachusetts, and newly elected 
Whig congressman. "I have not the capital I could use to ad­
vantage," he said. At Lawrence's request he was setting forth 
his views on th e purchase of lands for speculation. Discussing at 
great length the various factors which affected the suitability 
of western lands for investment, he urged especially that the 
lands in northwest Ohio were preferable to those in Indiana 
or Michigan. The Ohio lands, he wrote, were close at hand, and 
so could be attended to with less expense. Indiana, on the other 
hand"was building up a huge debt for canals and other improve­
ments, which might reach the great sum of twenty millions. 
"Another reason is, and I think it is entitled to some weight, the 
taxes in Ohio are at their maximum, arid I think will soon be 
reduced." From the vantage point of a century later, this is, to 
say the least, an amusing instance of human fall ibility in judg. 
ment. 

H e told Lawrence of his purpose to form a "concern" to 

invest in public lands, and mentioned particularly "fifty sec­
tions" which would "soon be brought into the market" near 
Toledo. Capital a t 6% to share in the profits of the speculations 
was what he needed, and he would "be grateful to know before 
long" whether Lawrence or his friends were "disposed to make 
any investment on the terms mentioned ."38 

Part of the "fifty sections" to which Whittlesey referred may 
have been the land which William Oliver, as already nO£ed, had 
purchased from the University of Michigan. This tract, at any 
rate, was an object of special interest to Whittlesey, as will now 
appear. At the moment he was interested in a special law of 
Congress which would have the effect of validating Oliver's 
title.u 

By this time the spirit of speculation was reaching a peak at 
Toledo. Edward Wade wrote from there in June, 1836, that 
the spirit of spec!Jlation had arrived at its climax. "There are 
now on this ri ver, in the distance of 12 miles, ten village ploLS, 
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six of which have been laid out since last Fall, aU of which have 
sprung out of the uncertainty of the boundary question and of 
the point of termination of the Canal. "40 In this connection 
it is pertinent to note that in Port Lawrence or Lawrenceburgh, 
the chief center of the specu lative interest, the ownership of 
land was distributed as follows in 1836: The Port L.,wrence 
Company owned 360 acres, William Oliver 66 1 acres, valued 
for taxation at $7,6 12, and Elisha Whittlesey 5 12 acres. Several 
others, includ ing a Mr. Andrews, W. J. Daniels (of whom more 
la ter), J. N. Stebbin, C. S. Pattee, Isaac Street &: Co., owned small 
tracts, while for five parcels, totaling 400 acres, the owners' 
names were unknown.iI 

The Act of the Ohio Legislatu re establishing Lucas County 
in 1835, and the prospect of locating the county seat, naturally 
introouced an add itional speculati ve factor into the Toledo 
situation. Oliver and his associates, which seem by this time 
to include Whittlesey and his friends , had set aside land for 
cOllrthouse purposes. The chief rival to Port Lawrence (now 
Toledo) was Maumee, where Edward \Vade seems to have had 
extensive interests, judging from some of his correspondence 
with Whilllesey.41 

Although \Vhiulesey's correspondence shows clearly the in· 
tense interest he and his lTiends look in the prospective location 
of the county seat, the exaCt nature of their connections with the 
land involved in lhe location of the courthouse does not appear 
clearly. Edward Wade's partner, Raymond, had purchased 200 
acres from O liver in January, 1836, at the very time Whittlesey 
and Wade were negotiating with John Clayton in Washington. 
Whittlesey was obviously disa ppointed when Wade did not in­
vest any of Clayton'S money in these lands purchased from 
Oliver, and did not rest content until part of it was so in­
vested. Wade wished to inven the Clayton money in Olean, 
New York, a specu lation in which Newton and Whittlesey also 
joined , but eventually consented to put part of it in Toledo.is 

Sixty acres [Tom the Raymond tract were sold to General 
O. H . Knapp of Ashtabula for $ 17,000, in January, 1836. In 
May of the same year Knapp sold thirty acres for $50,000 to 
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Stephen B. Comstock, another man prominently associated with 
land speculation in early T oledo, and agent of the Port Law· 
rence Company during 1834·35. Part aT all of this Comstock 
purchase seems to have been re·purchased later by Wade and 
Raymond. The price paid does not appear, but Wade wrOle at 
one time that Comstock was holding it at $150,000.-- Wade and 
Raymond then made some kind of contract arrangement with 
Joshua R. Giddings, Whittlesey, Horace Wilder, W. J. Daniels, 
and James Myers, the latter twO from T oledo, and subs13.ntial 
owners of land there. Giddings' version of the matter was that 
he had assigned his COntract to Myers. and that Myers sold to 
Daniels. However, in the resu lting difficulties which arose the 
obligations of the various parties seemed rather uncertain and 
vague.u What was clear was that Wade, Raymond. Giddings 
and Whittlesey expected Daniels and Myers to furnish the 
money to be paid to Comstock. This th ey ultimately refused 
to do. 

Meanwhile the Ohio.Michigan boundary question had been 
settled in a manner favorable to Ohio and Toledo, if contrary 
to the opinion of the United States Attorney General.' · In an 
early stage of the controversy, Whittlesey had accompanied the 
United States Commissioners as a voluntary peacemaker, in an 
effort to secure a compromise settlement. J ohn M. Clayton 
was chairman of the judiciary committee of the United States 
Senate which passed on the bill establishing the final boundary. 
Moreover, this group of Whigs interested in the Maumee valley 
had evidently used all the influence they could muster to get 
the legislature to locate the county seat of the new county at 
Toledo.n All that now remained to be done was for the com· 
missioners to select a site, which they proceeded to do in 1837, 
selecting, or accepting, the land which the Oliver interests 
had intended for that purpose. Toledo landowners promised 
$20.000 to aid in construction of the courthouse." 

November I , 1837. Whittlesey as agent. deeded the court· 
house square to Lucas County in consideration that county 
buildings be erected. The deed was assented to by Newton, 
Wade and Clayton. A receipt. dated at Dover, Delaware, De· 
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cember 10, 1836, shows that Clayton had received a deed for 
land (in trust to Whittlesey) which may be the same property. 
This deed was fTom Philander Raymond and ClaytOn acknowl­
edges on the receipt that this is the land involved in his con­
tract with Wade, Newton and Whittlesey. It is not certain, of 
course, that this is the same land as that involved in the dis­
puted contract with Stephen B. Comstock. There is no doubt. 
however, that Clayton was referring to the courthouse lot when 
he wrote December 4, 1837, that he had sent the deed from the 
partners to Comstock in Toledo.4I 

Naturally the Maumee interests were outraged at this "deal" 
and immediately began to agitate for removal of the county sea t 
to Maumee, offering to raise the money there for the construc­
tion of the courthouse. Although the point is not clarified in 
any of the histories. nor in the Whittlesey letters, the Toledo 
proprietors were encountering enough difficulties raising the 
money they had promised, to suggest that they were ultimately 
unable to do so. Construction was halted on the courthouse in 
1838, and the county offices were housed temporarily in Daniels' 
and Goette ll 's store until the county seat was moved to Maumee 
a few years later. The T oledo owners were not entirely dis­
couraged, however, and even as late as February, 1839. Micajah 
\Villi ams was writing to Whittlesey that the Whigs in the state 
senate would support their position "out of regard for Oliver. ""0 

Many of the complications of this situation are reflected in a 
letter which Whittlesey wrote to Edward Wade in May, 1837, 
a portion of which reads as follows: 

The commissioners after examining a week, and after much hesi­
taLion or rather deliberation fixed on a scile (.s ic) in Lot No.3 south 
of Swan Creek. The proprietors who were present with these 
[theirs?] agents when represented by agents agreed to erecl the pub­
lie buildings to be paid in proportion to their interest at Toledo. 
We agreedcd to give also a square of lots in the Oliver Division of 
T oledo on Lot No.3. Mr. Oliver had left there before I arrived .. .. 
H e with the other proprietors agreed to meet at Toledo on the loth 
of June for the purpose of making some arrangement about selling 
a part of the City Lots which are surveyed out on Lot No. three. It is 
desirable that all who are inlerened should be there at that lime. I 
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hope ali will assem ble there who have any interest in the purchase 
you made of Stevens n. Comstock. I request you to be at Toledo on 
the 10th and to bri ng all the papers YOll have relating to any of the 
lands [in] which we have or have had an interest with you. I have 
writlen to l\'lr. ClaYlOll to be there. If he ca nnOl come I have re­
quest ed him to sta te whether we are to repay lhe moncy we bor-
rowed whcn thc bond shall fall due . ... ~ t . ..-

Further careful study of the Whittlesey letters, of other cor­
responde nce and of the Lucas County land records might reo 
veal a closer connection between the Comstock speculation and 
the "deal" fo r the location of the county courthouse than has 
been discovered in thi s study. It was at least unfortunate that 
Danie ls and Myers, for reasons not enti rely clear , refused at 
this ti me to furnish the money for the payments d ue Com­
stock. \ Vhittlesey wrote Giddings that both these men seemed 
heavily invo lved in speculative city lots. Their fin anci al em· 
barrassment may well have been real, of course, in the spring 
and summer of 1837. Wha tever the reason, it was embarrassing 
for W ade , Whittl esey and Giddings to have Daniels and Myers 
fa il to carry out their contract just as the commissioners were 
fix ing the site for the co urthouse, and the T oledo proprietors 
agreeing to raise .$20,000 for public buildi ngs. Giddings sued 
Myers and Myers sued Daniels. Comstock th reatened to have 
the contract an nulled by the state Supreme Court unless the 
payments were made to him promptl y. What warrant he may 
have had for h is feeli ng is not clear, but Daniels wrote to 

\ Vh ittlesey that Giddings was "one of the damndest scoundrels 
in the world . He has cursed hi mself in the estimate of the 
people of Toledo."~2 

Although the Comstock transaction th us remains more or less 
a mystery, references to it in the letters wh ich follow suggest 
something of the nature of the relationsh ips of the proprietors 
involved. Referri ng to the Comstock tTact William Oliver 
wrote to Whittlesey: "I reserved control of the property." Wade 
had denied th is "control," which was apparently the basis of 
Oli ver's demand that all the T oledo proprieLOrs contribute to 

the construction of the courthollse. Whittlesey had defended it, 
however, describ ing it to Wade as fo llows: "T he interest was 
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made contributory in such sales, donations, gifts, & as might 
be th ought proper, to be determined by majority of owner­
shi p."u Clayton's relation to the transaction seems to have been 
behind Whittlesey's comment to William O liver, written about 
the same time, to the effect that Clayton had a "permanent 
interest" with th em in the Toledo properties.~4 Probably, too, 
C layton was a silent partner in the ownersh ip of some of the 
land which a ppears under \Vhittlesey's name in the Toledo tax 
lists for 1836, mentioned above, In olher words, although the 
POrt Lawrence Company had divided its holdings in 1835, as 
mentioned, the proprietors continued to act in many respects 
as though the company continued, and the transactions o[ 'Vade, 
Newton, Clayton and Whittlesey had the effect of bringing them 
into th e company. 

Horace Wilder seems also to have been involved, judging 
fTom the letter which 'Whittlesey wrOte him in June, 1837. He 
sa id, in part: 

.. . I th ink we ought LO have a definite understanding of what we 
intend to do. Otherwise we may lose the money advanced. 1£ you 
have not a copy of the contract made with Mr. Myers by Mr. Gid· 
dings, I wish you would obtain it, and I should like to know your 
opin ion whether Mr. Myers is obliged to pay Mr. Comstock the 
amomll due to him, and that shall become due, on the con tract be­
tween Mr. Comstock and E. Wade. The solution of this qUClltion is 
of great importance to Messrs. Giddings &: B. F. Wade, if not to all 
who ha ve any interest in the land contained in Comstock comract.~~ 

The years from 1837 to 1839 were years of increasing finan· 
cial d ifficulty for Whittlesey and his fr iends, as they were [or all 
who owed money, or depended in any way upon the fictitious 
values in lands which had been created during the years pre· 
ceding. The easy credit of the days before 1837 was a thing of 
the past. Clayton and Knapp were now in financial straits and 
demanding repayment of the money they had 1 0aned.~& ,"Vhiule­
sey and Giddings were busy raising money from every available 
source. 1t was practically impossible, they found, to collect 
anything from their own debtors. They relieved General Knapp 
by assuming his debt to the banker, Rufus Reed, apparently 
in order to secure a loan of $5,000 from that source. The debt 
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seems to have been one of those in volved in settling up the 
Comstock transactionY \Vhittlesey borrowed on his stock in 
the Ohio Life Insurance and Trust Company, and then was 
embarrassed again when payment of this loan was demanded 
in 1839. Yet in spite of these heroic measures the Toledo tax 
lists for 1840 showed most of the lands owned by the partners 
to be d elinquent. A large amount o[ Toledo property was listed 
"owners unknown."n 

It is not the purpose of this paper to describe these financial 
difficulties, which came to a peak in 1839, in any detail. Three 
of the Whittlesey's letters dealing with such difficulties will be 
briefly noted, however. The first is to Edward Wade, who was 
app:uently in the mOSt serious difficulty of all. It wou ld appear 
that something, at least, of \ Vh ittlesey's earlier apprehension in 
respect to 'Wade was ju'\tified. He wrote: 

I have just received a letter from Mr. Clayton in which he says 
you have not paid him, and in addition to that, he says you will not 
answer his letters. When I saw you at Jefferson, you said there could 
be no doubt the money would be remitted to Mr. Clayton in a 
short time, and that you would write to him. He sta tes h is neces­
sities are peculiarly pressing.~· 

A letter to William Oliver not only reveals the trouble 
Whittlesey was having, but reveals, also his reliance on Oliver 
and his Cincinnati friends. This letter is interesting also as it 
show~ Whittlesey's view of the T oledo speculations two years 
after the peak of speculation and the crash. The pertinent pan 
of the letter reads as follows: 

Your letter dated at Cleveland 011 the 26th of Sept. arrived here 
when I was on a journey at the eastward. On my return the courts 
were in session, and I have been from home most of the time since 
or I should have apologized for not meeti ng you at Conneaut as you 
requested. I have wanted to see you exceedi ngly. I have no doubt of 
the importance of the locality of Toledo. It will be a place of busi· 
ness and land there will command finally a high price. But it has 
been held and sold tOO high for the present age of the town and the 
back settlements. My advice last winter was to put the Oliver addi· 
tion into the markct at a fair price, so as to altract business and 
capital. As there are severa l propr ictors, I saw no way so safe for all 
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concerned, as to constitute a trustee . . .. My share is so small that I 
cannot do anything, for my own benefit nor for the benefit of others. 
As my plan seems not to have been acceptable, I think a decision 
had better be made. The present prospect is I must sell out to raise 
money to pay Mr. Clayton and the accommodation I got at the 
bank, when at Cincinnati a year since by hypothecating my stock.. I 
am ca lled on for that money wholly unexpectedly. Can my interest 
be sold at Cincinnati? Would not Judge Burnet buy it, or some of 
your other wealthy men? You would confer a great favour on me by 
selling it. Would not Mr. Williams and yourself buy it?e° 

The third letter is to Augustin Howell (?), in a vein of bitter­
ness which is rare in Whittlesey. and. consequently. shows all 
the more dearly how serioudy the difficul ties of the limes bore 
on him. "It will be impossible." he wrote. "to tell when our em­
barrassments will end. The administration of General Jack­
son has beggared tens of thousands."el 

Yet Whittlesey's connections with Ol iver and his intere~t in 
Toledo lands continued. In 1845, the Oliver Division in Toledo 
was resurveyed and repiatled by the county surveyor for "Elisha 
'Whittlesey, trustee for the owners." Incidentally, the same 
courthouse square was then reserved, and was soon to be taken 
up by the removal of lhe county seat back to Toledo the same 
year.n 

Whittlesey's role in the development of the Maumee region 
was evidently greater than the historians of the region have 
been accustomed to point out, He and his Whig friends played 
a prominent role in this early speculative development, and, if 
the truth were known, probably had a great deal to do with 
making Toledo the county seat of Lucas County as well as 
with the initial stages of its development in other respects. 

NOTES 
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by Harold E. Davis, 

5 . • "Ot the Michigan·Ohio boundary dispute 5Ce the article by E. H, Ros<:boom 
in the Dictionary of American HiJtory; Carl F. Wittke. "The Ohio.Michigan 
Boundary Dispute Re-Examined," Ohio State Arch. u Hist, QUQrt., XLV 
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Navigation at the Foot of the Maumee Rapids, 
1815-1845 

MAURER MAURER 

H ISTORIANS of the Maumee region have been concerned 
largely with the events attending the great military ex· 
peditions that ranged up and down the valley in the 

lalter part of the eighteenth century and in the early years of 
the nineteenth century, but too little has been done in the 
direction of outlining the economic development of the dis­
triCt. onc phase of which is concerned with the trade and com­
merce on the Maumee River. 

The history of the navigation of the Maumee at the fOOL of 
the rapids goes back to the time when the region was a famous 
gathering place for the Indians ply ing the river in their light 
canoes or heavier dugouts, when the place was an important 
rendezvous for early traders and missionaries, and when the 
foot of the rapids was a strategic point for military opera tions. 
The French from Detroit, and later the Engl ish from Pennsyl­
vania, pushed into the district to establish trading posts, bring­
ing in supplies for the Indians in exchange for furs. The loca­
tion was important because it was on the direct line of travel 
from east to west, by way of the lakes and the Maumee, across 
a short portage at Fort 'Wayne to the ''''abash, and thence down 
to the Ohio and the Mississippi. At the same time the Indian 
trails of the northwest converged at the rapids, for only at this 
point was the river shallow enough to be forded . 

The Indians and French had found the Maumee the natural 
route of transportation and communication into the interior 
of northwestern Ohio; the early settlers likewise turned to the 
lake and river for their mai n line of contact with the outside 
world. This was only natural in a region where the roads were 
almost impassable through the greater part of the year. 

In the first decade of the nineteenth century, the Maumee 
country was occupied, especially in winter, by Indians. Traders 
shipped their goods to the foot of the rapids, hauled or packed 

159 



Maurer Alaurer 

them to the head, and then carried them by boat to Fort Wayne, 
the distributing point for a large territory in the interior. The 
goods used in this trade consisted of red cloth , blankets, guns, 
hatchers, tObacco, whiskey, paint, hawk's bells, powder, lead, 
shot, beads, ribbons, rings, broaches, kettles, leather, blades, 
etc.' Light sail ing craft , owned mostly in Detroit, carried on an 
extensive trade with the eight thousand Ottawa Indians along 
the river and bay, distributing goods in exchange for furs and 
other (orest products.2 

By 1810 this trade had grown to such dimentions that Major 
Amos Spafford was appointed collectOr of the Port of Miami. 
Erie District. The Major's report for the first three months. 
ending June 30, 1810, indicated that the exports from the dis· 
trict for this period were valued at $5,640.85: 5,610.85 in 
furs and skins; 30, the value set on twenty g'd ll ons of bear's oi l. 
During the War of 1812 the collector had to leave the region due 
to the pressure of the British and the Indians, but the report 
for 1814 indicated the following expenditures: salary, $2.50; 
office rent, $10; fuel and stationery, $15.75. The absence of an 
affidavit to the report indicated the isolated nature of the port, 
as was explained by the Major: "There being no officer legally 
authorized to ' administer oaths nearer than sixty or seventy 
miles miles, I have nOt been able to attend to that part of the 
duty as the law requires. '" 

Shortly after the establishment o[ the custom house on the 
Maumee, regular communication was being maintained with 
the Lake Erie ports, and, after the 'War of 1812, there was a 
considerable immigration to the new country, many of (he 
settlers coming by the way oC (he lake and the river from Cleve­
land and the ports below. Two towns, Maumee and Perrysburg, 
sprang up at the foot oC the rapids, while others were located 
down the river, each ambitious and hopeful of becoming the 
future great city of the northwest. There was a grea t rivalry 
among (he river towns but Maumee and Perrysburg, at the 
head of navigation, reta ined their dominant position until the 
early 1840's, when two factors lead to the r ise of the great port 
of Toledo. By 1840 the lake vessels had become so large they 
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could no longer cross the " rock bar" that obstructed the river 
just below Perrysburg, and consequently the boats were putting 
in at T oledo; the construction of the W abash and Erie and 
the Miami and Erie canals, with the terminal point at Swan 
Creek, made Toledo the point of transfer from canal boat to 

lake shipping, and greatly red uced the number of boats pro­
ceeding up the river to Maumee and Perrysburg. 

In the fall of 1815, Captain Jacob Wilkison' sailed the Black­
snake up the Maumee to Fort Meigs, bringing several famili es 
to settle in the district. The Captain was no stranger to the re­
gion fo r in 18ll he had brought his family to the fOOL of the 
rapids, but, after seeing Hull 's army cross the river on the way to 
Detroit, and hearing of the surrender of the American forces to 

the British , Wilkison followed the other settlers of the region 
in the Right before the expected attack by the British and their 
Indian allies_ 

The schooner Blacksnake, burden twenty tons, was a small 
craft to sail on the lake, but a number of passengers sail ed with 
'Vilkison from Cleveland in 1815, part being landed on the 
River Raisin , the remainder a t Fort Meigs_ On the return trip 
the Blacksnake carried about forty soldiers, as well as ordnance 
and military stores from Fort Meigs to Detroit, for it was at this 
time that the Maumee fort was abandoned and the garrison 
moved to Detroit. Peace having been restored on the Maumee, 
Jacob Wilkison again brought his family to the rapids, made a 
permanent home, and engaged in the business of building 
bridges and whaI\les until his death in 18M.' 

The fi rst steamboat communication with the Maumee coun­
try was established in the year 18 18 by the W alk-in-th e-W ater, 
built by McIntyre and Stewart of Albany, New York, primarily 
for the run between Buffalo and the foot of the Maumee rapids. 
The builders had purchased a tract of land at Fort Meigs for 
the town of Orleans, at the point then considered to be the head 
of navigation on the r iver.6 J ob Fish, the ca ptain of the Walk-in­
the- W ater) brought his craft up the Maumee and cast anchor at 
the mou th of Swan Creek. The agent at Perrysburg made sound­
ings of the river but found tha t it was "not practicable to ascend 
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the river farther up" than the point where the craft lay at anchor. 
Since the ship could not reach Orlea ns, and since " there were no 
settlements of consequence below the Rapids, she never entered 
the river again ."1 

When Thomas \V. Powell came to Perrysburg in 1820 he 
found that " the business of the place [was] far larger than that 
which would be indicated by the population of the place, and 
the amount of lake shipping that came up there to meet this 
commercial d emand was quite considerable." At this time the 
produce of northwestern Ohio and northeastern Indiana was 
brought down the river on flat·boats and transferred to lake 
shipping at the foot of the rapids. The Indian trade was large, 
supplying furs, peitries, and maple sugar. The fisheries of the 
river constituted "a large item in the business of the place," 
while com was exported to Detroit and other par ts of the upper 
lakes.-

This trade continued through the 1820'5, but the export of 
agricultural products did not become important until the latter 
1830's and early 1840's. It is reported that a shipment of three 
hundred bushels of wheat was made from the valley to Buffalo 
in 1827, but it was not until 1838 that there was any noteworthy 
surplus of this crop for export.o The heavy timber, the swampy 
ground , and the ever present "ague," constituted the chief ob­
stacles in the agricultural development of the region. But trap­
ping and hunting were lucrative pursuits, the hides and peltr ies 
often being used as a medium of exchange in the absence of 
ready cash.'o 

The first large boat to enter the river from Buffalo was the 
Enterprise in the year 1823, bringing in settlers for Toledo, 
the Maumee Valley, Whiteford, Palmyra, Adrian, Tecumseh, 
Clinton , etc. In 183 1 the steamboat Gen . Gratiot entered the 
river and made one or two trips during the season. In the fall 
of 1832 the G~n. Brady was completed and made a few trips; 
the following spring the Andr~w Jackso'l made her appearance. 
The Gratiot, Brady, and Jackson made alternate trips between 
Toledo and Fort Gratiot, via Monroe and Detroit. The first 
regular line of communication between the Maumee and Buf· 
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fa10 was that provided by the Pioneer, chartered at Buffalo in 
lhe spring of 1833 by Seneca Allen and others, "to form a junc­
lion with the Buffalo boats at Sandusky city, and to keep up 
communication between that place and Toledo. then Vistula."u 

The era of prosperity, with its attendant real estate specula­
tion, that struck the west during the 1830's, brought a consider­
able influx of seltlers to the Maumee region. Hundreds of 
people settled at Perrysburg, Maumee, Manhattan , or Toledo 
under the impression that a great city was destined to grow up 
in the Maumee Valley. It was during these years, the period 
(Tom about 1833 or 1834 to 1837. that the commercial naviga­
tion of the Maumee River became well established. with regu­
larly scheduled lines serving the river and connecting the region 
with the other ports of the lake. By 1837, eight steamboats were 
entering the river on regular trips, while numerous independent 
boats arrived almost daily. The commission and forwarding 
houses handled increasing quantities of merchandise and sent 
the products of the valley on their way to the eastern markets. 
Two forwarding and commission houses, Hollister &:: Smith and 
Bingham &: Co., handled nearly all of the goods consigned to 
northern Indiana and a large ponion of that destined for north­
western Ohio and southern Michigan. From Perrysburg, which 
at that time was as large as any pon on Lake Erie with the ex­
ceptions of Buffalo and Cleveland, the merchandise was hauled 
by teams to the head of the rapids; keel boats, pirogues, and 
flat-boats carried the goods to Fort Wayne, the distributing 
point. The boats coming down the river brought furs. skins, 
and dried meats. By 1835 this commerce, together with the im­
migration to the region, "afforded a very lucrative business for 
nearly all the schooners and steamboats in the service."u 

In the latter 1830's and early 1840's regular steamboa t com­
munication became established between the Maumee and the 
various ports of Lake Erie, including Buffalo, Cleveland, San­
dusky, and Monroe. and had even extended beyond Detroit to 
ports on the upper lakes to include Chicago, Milwaukee, etc. 

The first announcement of a steamboat plying exclusively 
between the towns on the Maumee is reported to have appeared 
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in {he spring of 1838, when i{ was announced that the SWI, C. K. 
Bennett, Master, would make regular trips daily between Perrys· 
burg, Maumee, Toledo, and ManhatLln.1I The following year 
the Gen. Vance began her trips between the various ports of the 
Maumee. Captain Spink took his craft from Perrysburg at 7:30 
every morning, touched at Maumee and Oregon, arrived at 
Toledo before the train left on the Kalamazoo line for Adrian, 
and put in at Manhauan at 9:00. By noon the Gen. Vance was 
back in Perrysburg, leaving that place at 1:30, and from Toledo 
at 4 o'clock, "or after the arrival of the cars from Adrian." Be· 
sides the two regular trips made each day, the craft was offered 
for sa iling parties "by giving a few hours notice to the Capt., 
or to the ... agents," J. Hollister &: Co., of Perrysburg. The 
CapLlin also was attending "promptly to all calls from Capts. 
o( vessel who ... [desired] to be towed either up or down the 
river."H 

Captain Will. H. Gallagher, with the steamboat A ndrew Jack· 
JOll, supplied sen' ice between Toledo and Monroe, leaving 
Toledo every morning at 8:00, and Monroe at I :00 in the alter. 
noon.U On alternate days, the steamboat Commerce, Captain 
V. P. Stevens, left Lower Sandusky (Fremont) at 7:00 in the 
morning for the Maumee ports, returning to the Sandusky the 
following day.I' 

The steamboat Erie connected the Maumee towns with De­
troit, leaving Perrysburg on alternate days. In 1839 the O. New­
berry was added to this line to supply a daily service, both sh ips 
touching at Toledo, Manhattan, Monroe, Brest, Malden, and 
Gibra ltar.n The following year the Erie was running between 
Detroit and Cleveland, touch ing at Toledo on the way up and 
down, and, with the Macomb, was able to maintain a daily 
service between the Maumee and Detroit," The Erie was reo 
ported to be one of the fastest boats coming into the river, and 
Captain Edward~, her master, was held as being "gentlemanly 
and accommodating to his passengers."UI 

The lVestern Transportation Company, which was to control 
much of the shipping on the lake, came into being when the 
proprietors of the Commercial, the Transportation, and the 
Telegraph lines o( canalboats on the Erie Canal united their 
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interests "for the purpose of conducting a general FOR'VARD­
l NC AND COMMISSION BUSINESS on the Erie and Ohio 
canals, and on the Western L,kes ." Six canal boats were started 
daily from Albany and Buffalo carrying freight and passengers; 
a daily line of steamboats maintained a schedule from Buffalo 
to Detroit, touching at Toledo and Perrysburg as well as other 
intermediate ports; a semi-weekly line of steamboats le ft for 
the upper lakes. The steamboats of the 'Vestern Transportation 
Company were the W isconsin, Constitution, Anthony Wayne, 
Commod01"C O. H. Perry, Columbus, Vermillion, Rhode Island, 
and others. The Rhode i sland, a ship of two hundred tons and 
the smallest in the fleet, put in at Lower Sandusky and Monroe 
to deliver and receive passengers and freight. 20 

Two of these boats operated by the Western Transportation 
Company are deserving of specia l interest in the study oE the 
Maumee region, for they were built at Perrysburg and were com­
manded by men who played vital rates in the history of trans­
portation on the Maumee River. The Commodore Perry, a 
steamboat of 350 tons burden, had been constructed in the 
Perrysburg yards in 1835, and was under the command of Cap­
tain David Wilkison . When the Blacksnake sailed up the Mau­
mee in ISIS, David Wilkison, a fifteen year old nephew of Jacob 
Wilkison, was a hand aboard th e schooner. Two years later 
the Blacksnake was under the command of David Wilkison, 
making several trips to the Maumee, bringing in settlers, goods, 
etc., and carrying fish on the return run down the lake. In 1St 9 
he was given command of th e Pilot on the run between Buffalo 
and the Maumee, bringing in passengers, merchandise, sa lt, and 
lumber. By this tim e the val ley had started to produce a small 
surplus of corn so that the vessel was loaded with corn, furs, and 
fish for its return trip. By 182S, when Captain David W ilkison 
moved his family to Perrysburg, he had successively commanded 
the Blacksnake, Pilot, Mary Jane, President, Superior, Guer­
riere, and Eagle. 

The Eagle had been built at Port Lawrence (Toledo) in 
l S27 at the cost of .$3,000, and the captain did a profitable busi­
ness with (he boat, "as was the case with all lake vessels at that 
periOd." He left the Eagle in IS35 to take command of the Com-
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modore Perry, making the ru n from Buffalo to Perrysbu rg. Ten 
years later he became captain of the SUj)erior, remaining on 
the same run until the close of navigation in the year 1852. 

David Wilkison, Master of the \Vestern Transportation Com­
pany's Commodore Perry, spent thirty-seven years on the lake, 
during which time he never lost a vessel or steamer, nor did he 
meet with any serious accident. His success as a captain " was 
owing to his superior judgment, his coolness under the most try­
ing circumstances, and his perfect knowledge of the lake." But 
even in 1838, when the company announced that the Perry 
would be under Captain Wilkison, his reputation was such that 
"as a Commander ... [he needed] no eulogy."21 

Second only to \Vi lkison in the reputation he enjoyed as a 
ca ptain on the Maumee and Lake Erie, was Amos Pratt, Master 
of the Anthony Wayne. The Wayne, 350 tons burden, like the 
Perry, had been built in the Perrysburg yards, and had entered 
into the service between Buffalo and the Maumee. The ,\Vestern 
Transportation Company advertised the ship as "new and well 
built, with twenty sta te rooms, and a gentlemen's cabin with 
fi fty-two berths ; also a ladies' steerage cabin with twenty-four 
berths ... [making] her accommodations equal to any boat on 
the lake." The Commodore Perry and the Anthony Wayne ran 
alternately, always leaving Perrysburg and Toledo "on the ar­
riva l of the cars from Adrian." These two craft, together with 
the four other steamboa ts in the service, formed a six day line 
between the Maumee and Buffalo.i3 

The boat connection with Buffalo made rapid travel possible 
between the Maumee and the east. In 1839 passengers went from 
Toledo to New York in three days and fifteen hours, as fo llows: u 

Toledo to Buffalo (steamboat) 
Buffalo to Rochester (stage and railroad) 
Rochester to Auburn (stage) 
Auburn to Albany (railroad) 
Albany to New York (steamboat) 

Delays between Buffalo and New York. 

T otal 
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39 hours 
9 hours 
8 hours 

12 hours 
10 hours 
9 hours 
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Besides the line of steamboats, a number of sai ling craft sup­
plied connections with eastern ports. One in particular, the 
sdlOoner Caroli,le, built at Perrysburg in 1835, occupied a 
prominent place in the history of the transportation on the 
Maumee. In 1838 th is craft was making regular trips between 
Perrysburg and Cleveland, stopping en route at Maumee, To­
ledo, and Manhattan. At various times runs were advertised for 
boats to the ports of the upper lakes. In 1837 the steamboats 
Detroit, Constellation, Bunker H ill, and others were making 
connections with the ports on Lake Michigan.u 

Most of the boats running between Detroit and Cleveland 
or Buffalo put in the Maumee for the ports of Toledo or Perrys­
burg; some of the lines to Detroit or the lower lake ports, had 
Perrysburg as a terminal point. The light craft of the early years 
could read ily pass the fifteen miles up the Maumee to the foot of 
the rapids. In later years, however, the heavier vessels and steam· 
ers could not go beyond the "rock bar" that obstructed the chan­
nel about two mi les below the Perrysburg landi ng. This "rock 
bar" was a blue limestone ridge across the channel , over which 
the water at common stage was about six and one·half feet deep . 
Since vessels drawing more than six feet of water could not safely 
proceed to Perrysburg and Maumee, much of the river trade 
from the lake was diverted to points farther downY 

While the heavier steamboats enCOllntered d ifficult ies at the 
"rock bar," even light sailing craft found navigation of the ri ver 
above T oledo "extremely difficult and uncertain because of the 
narrow crooked channel. " Even with a favorable wi nd the many 
windings and "want of room to 'beat' ... [made] it difficul t to 
pass some of the bends without considerable delay: ' Navigation 
by sailing craft to the foot of the ra pids often required the aid 
of steam-towing above Toledo.28 Several small towns sprang up 
along the lower valley, but Toledo eventuall y became the lead· 
er and succeeded in capturing the trade that had once gone to 
the foo t of the rapids. Had navigation of the river been im­
proved to the lower rapids, Toledo might never have been 
founded, or, having been founded, might never have been able 
to surpass Maumee and PerrysburgY 
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The heavy lake steamboats, with few exceptions, were stop­
ping at Toledo. In 1836, exclusive of the small steamboats ply­
ing dai ly between Toledo and Detroit, 6 10 craft entered the 
port at Toledo: 330 steamboats; 27 1 schooners.2t During one 
thirty·two hour period in the middle of May, 1837, "NINE 
STEAMBOATS mostly of a very large class, one small one, 
three schooners and one sloop" entered the port.211 On June 13, 
eight schooners and four steamboats arrived at the same place 
in twelve hours;30 one week in the middle of August, twenty 
steamboats and three schooners arrived,1I while the following 
week showed the arrival of twenty-five steamboats and two 
schooners.u The arrivals at T oledo from October 3 to October 
10, 1837, totaled seventy-eight steamboats and schooners.1I The 
total number of craft entering the pOrt of T oledo in 1837 was 
959; 756 steamboats and 203 schooners. Of the 756 steamboats, 
207 were direct from Buffalo, 401 from Buffalo via Detroit, and 
85 direct from Cleveland.a< During the summer of 1838, the 
port averaged ten to twelve arrivals and departures daily.'~ 

Newspaper advertising of the boat lines occupied considerable 
space, but other business cards also indicated the importance 
of the business in the Maumee region. Palmer, Bush and Co., 
fonvarding and commission merchants, advertised (or " 1,000 
cords good dry steam boat wood," in September, 1837, raising 
the amount to 5,000 cords in their card the [allowing J anuary.u 
The same establishment also offered a "fine lot of deck lumber 
(or ship building,"U and announced the arrival of three hun­
dred bushe ls dried apples, etc., etc., "on consignment. and 
this day landed from the schooner Antelope, J. L. Edmonds, 
Master."" 

Ship b uilding was an important and flourishing business in 
the Maumee Valley as far up as the root of the rapids. Up to 
1846 al most 7,000 tons of sh ipping had been constructed at Mau­
mee, Perrysburg, Toledo, and other points on the lower river. 
These ships ranged in size from the twenty-five ton schooner, 
the Miami , built at Perrysburg in 1810, to the steamboats St. 
Louis and Superior built in 1844 and 1845.'v 

The Superior, a "floating palace" making her maiden voyage 
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to Buffalo in September 1845, went "forth as a specimen of the 
An, Mechanism and handicraft of Perrysburg." Her dimensions 
were as follows: Length of keel, 184 feet; length of deck , 196 
feet ; breadth oE beam. 27 feet and 8 inches; extreme bread th. 
48 feet ; depth of hold, 12 feet and 4 inches; burden , 646 tons. 
The editor of the Blade described her in the columns of his 
paper: 

UpPer Cabins 

She has two gentlemen's cabins, one 60 and the other 70 feet in 
length- the two containing 30 large State-Rooms. 

Two Ladies' cabins 33 fee t each in length- the upper containing 
6 State R oom; the lower 10 State Rooms,. together wim 18 berths. 

Steerage Cabins 

She has fou r Steerage cabins; two of them expressly fitted up for 
females, being well fini shed and furnished with matrasses, &:c. 

Accommodations 

The Superior can accommodate in me most comfortable and 
superior style 200 cabin, and 500 steerage passengers .... 

Her upper cabins are fini shed in the finest style-no pains has been 
spared in her finishing, either in the wood-work or in the painting; 
and to add still more to the magnificence of the cabins they are en­
l ivened on either side with large Portraits oC eminent men, Land­
scapes, and Historical pieces, in oil-24 in number .... 

With Captain Wilkinson as her commander and his noble crew 
to manage her, there is no danger but thal she will meet with 
abundant success on m e route she is going to take-between Buffalo 
and Chicago.4o 

Although lake boalS could nOt pass up 'the Maumee beyond 
the foot of the rapids, navigatio n of the u pper river was vitally 
con nected with that of the lower river and Jake. It has already 
been noted that merchandise was unloaded [rom th e lake craft 
at the foot of the rapids, hauled to the head, and reloaded on 
river craft for Defiance and Fort \Vayne for d istribut ion . The 
products of the upper region were sent on their way to the 
eaStern markets by a reversal of this procedure. Thus, in the 
early period, as during the canal and railroad eras, many of the 
shipments from the lower river o riginated far to the interior. 
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Travelers on the upper river were put to a great dea l of in­
convenience and hardship by the passage through the rapids. 
T he river section from Defiance down to Grand Rapids was 
suitable for the navigation of larger boats, but the river down 
from Grand Rapids was broken by the Grand, Fowler, Bear, 
Wolf, Otsego, Roche de Boeuf, Presque Isle, and Maumee 
(Lower) Rapids. T ravelers "were often obliged to wade in the 
river and aid in lifting and pushing the boat over the shallow 
places," while a t other points, where the current was more slug­
gish , they had to "help pole the craft" up the r iver. At times 
they would become so discouraged as to abandon the boat, wade 
ashore, and proceed on foot .. 1 

Before the construction of the canal parallel with the river 
from Defiance to Toledo, "scows, pirogues and canoes, ladened 
with valuable stores, braved its [the Maumee's] curren tS from 
Fort 'Wayne to Perrysburg."<2 The larger pirogu es, often called 
dug-outs, were made from two logs hollowed , matched, and 
pinned together, some being sixty or seventy fee t in length. Be­
cause of their heavy construction they could withstand the rocks 
and rapids better than the bark canoes. The larger pi rogues, 
manned by three or four men, could carry forty packs of fu rs, 
each of one hundred pounds, or (later) 175 bushels of wheat or 
corn.~ 3 At low stages of water and duri ng the winter, "the carry­
ing of stores, passengers and merchandise gave employment to a 
vast army of teamsters, horses and wagons." A team and loaded 
wagon required eight to nine days to make the round trip from 
Fort ' Vayne to Perrysburg, a situation that caused sh ippers to 

seek other methods of shipping, methods that would be more 
rapid and less expensive.u 

In 1836 the steamboat Anthony Wayne was launched in the 
deep water above the rapids to make regu lar trips to the mouth 
of the Auglaise, and, at times of high water, even as far as Fort 
Wayne,,5 In June of the following year an announcement was 
made that the stcamboat "would leave the head of the Rapids 
every day at one p.m. for the Flat Rock Oust below the mouth 
of the Auglaise] where therc would be coaches and teams to 
convey passengers and freight to Defiance."~ ' At this time a 
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barge, fitted for passengers and freight, left Defiance every Fri­
day for Fort Wayne, running through in three days.iT 

In the summer of 1837 a little steamboat, the Phenomenon, 
that had originally been built at Rochester, New York , as a 
canal boat, was brought to the foot of the rapids, where the 
captain astonished the natives "by the bold declaration that he 
was going up the Maumee." The boat passed Fort Meigs, But­
tom'fOod Island, and the Presque Isle Rapids, and announced 
her presence at the lock in Nearing's dam with shrill blasts from 
her whistle. After a great deal of trouble and with the "assistance 
of ropes and tackle blocks and much pulling and puffing," the 
craft was maneuvered into the mill pond above the dam, where 
she was employed on the 4th of July giving free rides to the 
people who had assembled to behold the wonder. 

When the captain started the boat up the river, "she met 
trouble again at Ruch-te-boo [Roche de Beau£] Rapids." Part 
of her cargo was carried ashore and hauled around to Otsego. 
The craft was hauled by men and horses with block and tackle so 
that she successfully ascended the remaining rapids and safely 
emerged in the deep water of the upper river. For a while the 
Phenomenon plied between the head of the rapids and Flat 
Rock, but after a time she was taken down the river to run be­
tween Perrysburg and the other ports of the Maumee under 
the name Sun. Another attempt was made later to get a boat, 
the Crockett, above the rapids, but the venture was abandoned 
at Nearing's dam.· s 

The foot of the Maumee rapids was a focal point for east and 
west and for north and south traffic, a natural trading point in 
the days when transportation was dependent upon river and 
lake shipping. The Wabash and Erie Canal, opened in 1843, and 
the Miami and Erie Canal, opened in 1845, became the main 
arteries of transportation from the lower Maumee to the south 
and the southwest. On the upper river the number of boats using 
man power declined as the canal came into use. However, for 
many years grain and timber continued to go down river at 
stages of high water.411 

The effect of the junction of the canals with the lake was to 
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make T oledo the commercial center of northwestern Ohio. T he 
Kalamozoo Railroad was constructed to Adrian in 1836, and 
by mid-century rail roads radiated in every direction from T o­
ledo. With these developments the older towns at the foo t of 
the rapids lost m uch of their prestige and importance and gradu­
ally san k into the background, a trend shown in the removal of 
the custom house from Mau mee City in 1846. By the mid-1840's 
navigation below the foot of the Maumee rapids had entered 
a new era, an era in which the history of navigation on the river 
is largely the story of the development of Toledo into a great 
commercial and industrial city. 
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